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    The context of the story


    



    



    



    I t was the fifteenth hour in North Africa. In a cloudless sky, under a burning hot sun, a flock of carrion birds flew in circles. Down on the dusty, ochre-coloured plain, the victors looted. Amid severed arms, broken skulls, disembowelled bodies and a sea of blood, the plunderers searched for weapons, took off clothes and relieved what they could from the fourteen thousand dead.


    The young, chaste King Sebastian of Portugal was one of the dead. Muley Muhammad, the deposed King of Morocco, was another. Abd Al-Malik, usurper of the Moroccan throne, was a third. The so-called Battle of the Three Kings, fought on 4th August 1578 at Ksar El Kebir1, resulted in a colossal massacre, brought disgrace on thousands of families, and ruined Portugal.


    At the age of sixty-six, Cardinal Don Henry, King Sebastian’s great-uncle, ascended the throne of a country in tatters. He, too, died seventeen months later, without an heir. Don Antony, Prior of Crato, the Cardinal’s bastard nephew of impure blood,2 succeeded in being proclaimed king. His reign lasted three months. Philip the Second of Spain, who was respectively the grandson, son-in-law, uncle and nephew of the four last kings of the neighbouring country, crossed the border with his armies and had himself crowned King of Portugal.


    Now, the Spanish monarch controlled the whole of the Iberian Peninsula, in addition to the Spanish and Portuguese possessions in the Three Americas, Asia and Africa. He had also inherited from his father, Emperor Charles the Fifth, control over Sicily, Sardinia, Naples, Milan, Franche-Comté, Burgundy, Artois and the Low Countries3.


    It was not by chance that those sandy, rainy and cold wind-buffeted plains were called the Low Countries. Especially to the north, a good portion of the country was five metres below sea level and was only kept dry thanks to an ingenious system of dykes, floodgates, windmills and canals. Living in such a place had been a never-ending fight against nature, and all help was welcome. This was the reason why the Batavian people became exceptionally tolerant, and persecuted minorities from all over were attracted to the region. Making a living from agriculture and cattle-breeding had been particularly harsh. Only herrings were in plentiful supply — which, when properly salted or smoked, could be exchanged for other essential commodities. However, as these lands were situated at the mouths of the Rhine and Meuse rivers on the North Sea, and halfway towards England and Denmark – the gateway to the Baltic Sea – trade had become the major local activity. It was Batavian ships that carried the trade which exchanged surplus wheat from Poland, timber from Norway, and hemp and copper from Russia for sheep’s wool from England, cutlery from Germany, wines from France, and salt, sugar, olive oil and spices from the Iberian Peninsula. Over the centuries, trading had expanded and enriched these provinces. For this reason, it was there that Spanish imperialism encountered the fiercest opposition. The levying of new taxes to finance Philip’s wars, the cantonment of foreign troops, and the attempt by the Inquisition to impose Catholicism on the Protestant population by force had led to countless rebellions.


    The heretics burnt at the stakes of the Holy Office were surrounded by an aura of martyrdom. Political agitators turned into popular heroes. The King’s intolerance whipped up sentiment. The rivalry between Catholics and Protestants gained momentum.


    In 1579, the Low Countries’ provinces south of the River Rhine, controlled by Catholic noblemen, pleaded allegiance to the Spanish King and signed an alliance in Brussels for the safeguarding of the true faith. In retaliation, the seven Northern provinces4, where the Protestant religion ruled, united under Holland’s leadership, and on the 26th of July 1581 they published a manifesto in The Hague.


    


    “We believe that a prince is imposed by God on his subjects to protect them, above all, from all forms of injustice. If, instead, he robs them of their ancient freedoms, privileges and tradition-based rights, and humiliates them as slaves, he should no longer be considered a prince but a tyrant. Therefore, his vassals are entitled to defy him, abandon him and elect a new leader in his place.”


    


    Consequently, representatives of the rebellious provinces constituted a kind of parliament called the States-General, enlisted the Nassau-Orange5 in their cause, declared independence from Spain, and proclaimed the Republic of the United Provinces. From then on, the Spanish were no longer dealing with a rebellion in the Low Countries, but with a war of independence. A war of friction which, with greater or lesser intensity, would drag on for eighty years.


    



    



    


    
      
        1. The history of King Sebastian and the reasons behind the battle are narrated in the historical novel The Hope by Aydano Roriz.

      


      
        2. The natural son of Don Luiz, brother of King John III, was considered of “impure blood” because his mother was of Jewish ancestry.

      


      
        3. The estates of feudal lords grouped in seventeen provinces that correspond broadly to modern-day Netherlands, Belgium and Luxembourg.

      


      
        4. Holland, Zeeland, Friesland, Groningen, Overijssel, Guelders and Utrecht.

      


      
        5. The noblest of the noble in the region and represented by the Dutch Royal Family of today.
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    Chapter 1


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    A bell was ringing, calling for a small bridge to be opened. The cheerful cries of the gulls announced the arrival of a straggling fishing boat. A cheesemaker from Alkmaar — and there was no mistaking that he was from Alkmaar because of the clothes he was wearing — was trying to push his remaining wares by calling out his low prices.


    By that hour, the narrow, dark brick warehouses with their steep roofs and tall gables bearing hoists on the ridge were all closed. On the upper floors, the families of their owners were dining in leisurely fashion. Somewhere, someone was playing a spinet, enthralled by the novelty of creating string music using a keyboard. Glowing from the window panes, the wavering light of candles and oil-lamps fell on the reflecting surface of the canals and illuminated the Amsterdam night. 


    Walking side by side, two men almost took up the whole of the narrow alleyway off the Waag, the new market. Their dark attire, oversized square white collars and black top hats marked them out as merchants. They were engrossed in lively conversation, and had just left a tavern after a meeting at the Stock Exchange1 where each had undertaken to buy a part of the three thousand shares in a new trading company.


    “Usselincx is right,” bellowed one of them cockily, clearly the worse for wear. “Now that Philip the Third is dead, it does seem a good time, with the crown sitting on the head of a sixteen-year-old lad. It was high time he went, the Third! But if the son is as stupid as his father, that’s all the better.”


    “Fret not. Stupidity runs in the family in the Spanish dynasty,” the elder of the merchants went on good-humouredly, draping a friendly arm over his companion’s shoulder. “Philip the Second was dumber than Charles the Fifth. Philip the Third was even more of a numbskull than Philip the Second. So it all points to this Philip the Fourth being as stupid as they come.”


    “Oh… I hope so. Especially now with the end of the Twelve Year’s Truce2.”


    “By Satan’s horns! The time is right, my friend.”


    “Maybe it is. Usselincx sounded pretty convincing. But look, I only got involved in this business because of you. Six thousand florins is a lot of money for me.”


    “Well yes, it’s quite a sizeable amount. But by the beard of St. Nicholas, I would pay even more just to see the look on the Spaniards’ faces!”


    “You think they don’t know? Why, those sanctimonious Papists have spies everywhere! I wouldn’t be a bit surprised if some of those Sephardim3 were their people. The Spaniards have those half-Moorish, half-idiot-looking faces, but they’re not fools!”


    “As far as I’m concerned they can roast in hell, the lot of them! Taking back some of what they’ve been stealing from the colonies would be the best revenge we could have!”


    The war of independence between the Netherlands and Spain had already been dragging on for forty years. Still, the sinking of some ship or other, the sporadic battles and the siege of this or that city were all such a normal aspect of life for the Batavian people that news from the conflict no longer caused a stir. The victories were celebrated, the defeats were quickly forgotten, and life carried on as usual, with people planting, harvesting, fishing, manufacturing, selling, buying… in short, working hard. After all, earning a living was what mattered most, because the Dutch Reformed Church had taught them that wealth was one of the outward signs of God’s grace.


    During that night’s meeting at the Amsterdam Stock Exchange, they had agreed to join the last group of wealthy merchants and burghers in signing up to the constitution of the WIC4, the West India Company. Founded by Willem Usselincx, a Protestant from Antwerp who was living in exile in the Netherlands for religious reasons, the venture seemed really promising. At least as promising, if not more so, than the VOC5, a similar company that was yielding tremendous profits after managing to forcibly break the Portuguese and Spanish monopoly of trade with the East. The new company was expected to achieve the same success, especially as its activities would be confined to the west coast of Africa and the New World, regions that lay much closer to Europe.


    “What I don’t like”, the younger merchant harangued, “is that the Company is already starting off with nineteen directors. When my brother was alive, we fought about our business decisions now and again, and that was just him and me! So I can imagine what it will be like with all those heads doing the thinking!”


    “Oh, I’m sure it will be a hell of a muddle! Heeren Negentien6. It’ll be quite the comedy!”


    “Tell me something I don’t understand… Where do the States-General come into the picture?”


    “Ah yes, my friend, politics! God only knows what goes on in the heads of those people! But as long as they don’t interfere with business, let them get on with it.”


    


    
      
        1. Founded in 1602, Amsterdam’s Stock Exchange is the oldest in the world.

      


      
        2. The truce between Spain and the rebels in the Netherlands, signed in 1609 and effective until 1621.

      


      
        3. Descendants of the Jews expelled from Portugal and Spain by the Inquisition.

      


      
        4. WIC — Westindische Compagnie, or West India Company. In the original Dutch, it was GWC for Geoctryeerde Westindische Compagnie.

      


      
        5. VOC - Verenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie, East India Company.

      


      
        6. ‘Nineteen Gentlemen’ in Dutch, a reference to the 19 directors of the Company.
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    Chapter 2


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    Although they were operating in another part of the globe, the directors of the VOC felt threatened by the emergence of the WIC. As a result, it took two years to get the new company up and running. Only then could they manage to make a first foray. They sent a small fleet of four ships to the coast of Africa, with two hundred and twenty men and seventy-five cannon.


    South of the Cape Verde archipelago, the WIC fleet attacked some small Portuguese settlements along the River Cacheu and seized a few boats. This satisfied them and they returned home.


    “Trifles! Trifles!” ranted Usselincx in a meeting of the so-called Board of Nineteen, annoyed with the paltry profit from the conquests. “We need to think big, gentlemen. Think big, or the Company will go down the drain! The share price is plummeting on the Exchange.”


    “Let’s attack Madrid, then”, quipped one of the directors nominated by the silent partners from the Province of Zeeland, trying to be witty.


    Burly as a giant and slightly hunched, like those men who seem to carry the weight of the world on their backs, Usselincx seemed to be much older than his fifty-six years. With his unkempt white beard, greying shoulder-length hair and aquiline nose, the blue eyes of the founder of the WIC glowered fiercely at the young man.


    “Most of us here were already doing business and fighting the Spaniards while you were still in nappies, young man. If you want a bit of fun, may I suggest you go to one of our brothels? We have over two hundred here in Amsterdam.” And turning on his heel with an air of contempt, and in an impassioned tone of voice, he exhorted, “We need to think big, gentlemen. Think big!”


    With a subscribed capital of a handsome eighteen million guilders1, the goal of the WIC was, essentially, to institutionalise piracy in order to break the economic blockade and thereby undermine Spanish power. Hence it could rely on government support. There was, however, a quid pro quo: the directors had had to swear allegiance both to the States-General, in the person of the Grand Pensionary2, and to the Stadhouder3, Prince Maurice of Orange, Captain-General of the Republican armies. The Company had cash and government support, but was not able to get a consensus on the board. One suggested this, another that, a third something else… each of the nineteen directors, representatives of the silent partners from the different provinces, wanted to impose his own point of view. Only after various comings and goings, meetings and yet more meetings, arguments, squabbling and prevarication, did the Board of Nineteen finally decide on their next goals.


    “As I’ve already said, I’m happy with your resolution to propose funding large-scale business”, said Usselincx. “If we really can manage to capture that annual shipment of silver from Peru, it would be an impressive achievement!”


    “We would be rich, Usselincx”, joked one of the directors, the representative of a group of silent partners from Rotterdam, and himself the owner of a ridiculous one hundredth of one per cent of the Company. “And those refugees from Wallonia who are breathing down our necks, what shall we do with them?”


    “I have nothing against the idea of sending these families — thirty families, isn’t it? — to the Hudson River region4. If what they want is to found the New Jerusalem, New Amsterdam5 or New-whatever, let them do it. We’ll contribute by sending a boat to take them to North America. It would be an act of charity that could bring us some important information.”


    “What I’m more concerned about is the large colony in the South”, retorted another.


    “Yes,” nodded the WIC’s founder, getting tired of the controversy. “I still prefer us to start from scratch with our own colony and our own people on the shores of the River Plate, where the climate is milder. Anyway, if the majority prefers a direct confrontation with the Spaniards, I bow to the majority.”


    “To see you bow even though we’re a majority is a great thing,” scoffed the young representative of Zeeland whom Usselincx had ridiculed before.


    “Really?” mocked the old man, stroking his goatee in disdain. “Anyway, it’s the Grand Pensionary and Prince Maurice whom we need to bring into line now. Without their agreement, there’s no deal.”


    “If His Highness agrees, the Grand Pensionary will follow suit,” someone sneered.


    “Don’t be insulting, Pieter. Lately, Anthonis Duyck has been quite independent,” Usselincx quipped, drawing smiles all round.


    A little disconcerted, because he was not much for joking, the old man looked at one of his colleagues on the board, and continued.


    “You, Jan, you have a way with words, would you write a summary of our ideas to facilitate the Stadhouder’s understanding?”


    “All right. As you wish. Give me three weeks,” Jan Andries Moerbeeck agreed. “You can schedule an audience with His Highness for early April. I’ll bring a draft to the next meeting for us to discuss.”


    “Very well. Just don’t forget one thing: this is a secret that needs to be guarded under lock and key. Lock and key!” Usselincx insisted. “Don’t even tell your wives. Only us here on the Board, plus the Grand Pensionary and the Stadhouder, need to know. The element of surprise is crucial for the success of this raid.”


    



    



    


    
      
        1. Dutch florin.

      


      
        2. Title of the leader of the majority party of the United Provinces as a sort of prime minister.

      


      
        3. Governor, in Dutch, the Head of Army and Diplomatic corps.

      


      
        4. The river that empties into the bay of New York, discovered by Henry Hudson, an Englishman who worked for VOC in search of an alternative route to the Orient.

      


      
        5. Modern day New York.
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    Chapter 3


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    While it was only the Hollandia, the Zeelandia, the Neptunus and other WIC sailing vessels that entered the shipyard for refitting, no-one paid attention. However, when more and more cannon began to be deployed on the Nassau, the Sint Martien and on many other private vessels, there was no end to the resulting speculation.


    The shipowners went about their business with smiles on their faces. It was rumoured that the West India Company was leasing any ship of more than 100 lasts1. The jobless on the dock had no reason to complain. It was said that as many as three thousand men would be hired.


    The bustle around the powerful armada that the WIC was getting ready aroused curiosity. Rumours were running wild.


    “I heard they’re attacking the Spaniards at Corunna,” said one.


    “It actually seems that Prince Maurice is putting together an army of Teutonic2 mercenaries to advance on Madrid,” speculated another.


    “I heard a different story. They’re actually invading Lisbon to overthrow the Spanish Habsburg dynasty and put the Stadhouder’s brother-in-law on the throne.”


    After much pressure, one of the Nineteen Gentlemen ended up making his wife privy to the plan. The nosy lady was sworn to secrecy but could not resist revealing the secret to her best friend. She, in turn, told a friend, and this friend told her lover. The blustering Lothario told a Jewish moneylender who had him pledged down to his trousers. The news soon got to Antwerp where it reached the ears of the Governor of the Southern Low Countries3, who was visiting the King in Madrid.
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    “Have you spoken to His Majesty, Your Highness?” the Count of Ficalho, president of the Council of Portugal to the Spanish court, asked fretfully as soon as the door was closed.


    “That I have,” said Infanta4 Isabel Clara Eugenia, who was the King’s aunt and the widow of the Archduke Albert of Austria, former Governor of Portugal. “But Philip wouldn’t hear of it. He told me to warn Olivares.”


    “For the blood of Christ!” exclaimed the elderly Portuguese nobleman in exasperation, shaking his head. “His Majesty…”


    “I know, my dear friend, I know. But what would you have me do? Philip is a good lad but he takes a bit after his father,” admitted the Governor of the Netherlands, a smug smile forming on her lips. “That boy. Showing-off and partying, that’s all he thinks about. Problems? No, that’s Olivares’ business.”


    “Poor Iberian Union5… Poor Portugal…”


    “Not so, my dear friend, not so.” The daughter of the third marriage of Philip the Second of Spain to the sister of a late King of France stood up and walked around the room with as much poise as her fifty-seven years would allow. “The Count of Olivares may not be perfect but he is salvaging our dominance over Europe. There’s no denying it.”


    “Yes, God only knows at what cost,” agreed the Councillor before daring to add, “Does Your Highness not think I should go ahead and let it be known in Lisbon?”


    “Better not, my friend, better not. You might fall out of favour with Olivares. Let me handle it at my end. If only one could get a word in with the Count. It’s easier to talk to His Majesty,” she mocked. “But I’ll find a way.”


    “If you’ll allow me the suggestion, why don’t you take it up with Don Hernando, Olivares’ confessor? Isn’t he also your confessor? It might be the easiest way.”


    


    Two mornings later, storming along the corridors of El Alcazar in Madrid, Gaspar de Guzman y Pimentel, the Count of Olivares, was breathing fire. He was not exactly maddened at the bad news; this he was accustomed to. What made him resentful was having found out about it on the grapevine. Who would be bold enough to remind His Majesty that it had been he, he and no-one else, who had procrastinated, time and again, at the insistent requests for an audience by the President of the Council of Portugal and the King’s aunt? Who would dare? Olivares was the King’s protégé – the right-hand man of Philip the Fourth. In practice, it was he who ruled over the Empire and, so the gossips said, held the strings that made His Majesty move. No, it would not do to remind the Count of his own failings.


    “I cannot allow that to happen,” Olivares roared, after reprimanding his aides. “To lose this shipment of silver would be disastrous. Send a light galleon out to El Callao6 straightaway. They should load earlier and take a different route. If this silver is stolen, those in charge will have to answer to me in person!”


    “Understood, Excellency,” the Head of the Cabinet nodded, modestly bowing his head. “And… and Brazil, Your Grace?”


    “Brazil? Forget Brazil! They can only steal sugar there. But warn Lisbon,” the all-powerful Prime Minister ordered, before quickly changing his mind. “No. Better not. The Three Stooges7 wouldn’t know what to do. They would send an envoy back to ask me. Write a letter from His Majesty informing them of the fact but advise the Province’s Governor as well. Who is he, by the way?”


    “Diogo de Mendonça Furtado, Your Grace.”


    “That’s right,” the arrogant Count recalled, toying with the tips of his extravagant handlebar moustache. “The one who was Governor of Malacca, right? Well then… Inform this man Diogo and the Three Stooges in Lisbon. Convene the Council of Portugal as well. But don’t waste too much time on all these stories. The priority is to save the shipment of silver from Peru.”


    



    



    


    


    
      
        1. Former Dutch weight unit. One last corresponded to 1,656 kilos.

      


      
        2. Former name given to the Germans.

      


      
        3. The provinces to the south of the River Rhine controlled by Catholic noblemen, which had pledged allegiance to the Spanish monarch in 1579. Today, they broadly speaking comprise Belgium and Luxembourg.

      


      
        4. ‘Infanta’ is the title given to every daughter of a king of Spain or Portugal, except the eldest – T.N.

      


      
        5. Official name of the union between Portugal and Spain under a single king – in this instance, a Spanish king.

      


      
        6. Main port of the Spanish viceroyalty of Peru.

      


      
        7. Some time after Philip the Second of Spain was crowned King of Portugal, even foreign cartographers erased Portugal from the map. For all practical purposes, Portugal was treated like a Spanish province. It was ruled by a viceroy or a governor, and at that time by a triumvirate comprising the Count of Basto, Don Nuno Alvares Portugal and the Bishop of Coimbra.
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    Chapter 4


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    After reading the mail that had recently arrived from the mother country, Diogo de Mendonça Furtado, the Governor of Brazil, felt a tightness in his chest, a feeling of discomfort and malaise.


    “Just what I needed,” he thought, stroking his moustache and tossing his long, floppy hair from his forehead, which was wrinkled in annoyance.


    In the post for two and half years, he could not wait to complete his three-year commission and return to Portugal. His previous experience in Malacca1 had been much more profitable. That former Muslim sultanate, conquered by the Portuguese in 1511, was one of the richest kingdoms in south-east Asia and, being situated midway between India and China, it represented a vital staging post for shipping and trade in the Far East. But Brazil… poor Brazil. Since the annexation of Portugal by Spain, Brazil was little more than a huge abandoned farm, where cattle were raised here and there, and cane was grown to make sugar. Although its capital, the City of Salvador, was located in a place of great natural beauty, and despite its seventy years of existence and continuing status as the largest and most important settlement in the colony, it still had only fourteen hundred homes, a Jesuit school, two churches and three monasteries. With their eyes on the gold in Mexico and the silver in Peru, Brazil2 was so disparaged by the Spaniards that even the Governor’s residence only remained standing thanks to the props that held up the walls. But that was not all. The trouble was that even in this God-forsaken place there was a power struggle. And a fierce one at that!


    Don Diogo had arrived in Bahia in October 1621 and was very well received by the people and by the outgoing Governor he was to replace. Soon afterwards, news came from Lisbon of the appointment of a new Bishop for Brazil. Good news! It seemed to him a sign of personal prestige at the Court. The Brazilian diocese had been vacant for three years.


    “We’ll have a Bishop again,” the handsome Governor, who filled the young girls and unloved young ladies with unmentionable dreams, announced enthusiastically. “I´ve just received the announcement. He’s from Lamego, in Viseu. A very well prepared man. He was a doctoral canon in Evora, and is a graduate in Canon Law from the University of Coimbra. His name is Don Marcos. Don Marcos Teixeira.


    The Good Men3 present at the meeting were agitated. Not long before, a visitor from the Holy Office by the name of Marcos Teixeira had been in Brazil. As a good judge of the Court of the Inquisition, the visitor was as grim as a bat, as embarrassing as involuntary flatulence in public, and very efficient at forcing out denunciations. In Bahia alone he managed to try three cases of sodomy, one of witchcraft, one of breaking an oath and one of blasphemy. He even succeeded in forcing the daughter of Garcia d’Avila, the richest man in Brazil, to denounce her own stepmother as “a descendant of the Maccabees”4. Was the visitor now returning as Bishop, to pass sentence? Would there be an auto-de-fé in Bahia? Would people be handed over to the secular power for sentencing to death, or be burnt at the stake as was common in Lisbon?


    On the morning of 8th December, the date devoted to the city’s patron saint, the Bishop’s brigantine was sighted and Salvador went down to the harbour en masse to welcome the new Bishop. Many tried to glimpse his face between the landing of the ship and his disembarkation onto the pier.


    Short, puny, his head too big for his body, Marcos Teixeira had much to blame the Creator for, but his major complaint was the eternal boyish face that he had been given at birth and would not go away. The face of an old boy, with such an unrespectable air that he did not even have a beard. Because of that, he presented himself in Bahia with the pomp and ceremony of a true emissary of the Kingdom of Heaven. He was dressed in a rich cope embroidered in gold, his mitre adding three palms to his height, and he held his pastoral staff in his hand. The Governor almost had to kneel to kiss his amethyst ring, the symbol of the Bishop’s fidelity to the Church of Christ.


    “Welcome to the lands of Brazil, Your Grace,” Don Diogo proclaimed.


    Don Marcos simply nodded his head imperially.


    “Did you have a good journey? Are you not tired? Will you allow me to accompany you to your lodgings?”


    “Better not,” the new arrival replied with an air of reproach. “Do you not see all these people who have come here to greet me? I need to distribute blessings and sprinkle holy water over the people, Governor. It would not do for us to go off together under the canopy, chatting.”


    Someone5 once said that words are more offensive than deeds; the tone, more than the words; the air more than the tone. Feeling morally hurt, his dignity humiliated, Don Diogo made the presentations due and dispensed with his official duties as quickly as decorum permitted. Later, still sulking, he claimed to have a terrible migraine and did not attend the banquet given by the community to the Lord Bishop.


    This was not exactly a wise decision.


    Not yet recovered from his first blunder, the Governor found himself grappling with a new grievance. It was Don Diogo’s habit always to sit in church on the right side, the so-called Gospel side. Now, however, Don Marcos sent word to inform him that in the Roman liturgy, that was the place reserved for the Bishop. The secular authority should sit on the Epistle side6. This caused discomfort, but… there was nothing for it! The liturgy is the liturgy. However, when the time came for the censers to be swung, who should be incensed first: the Governor or the Bishop?


    “Excuse me, Father, but you must make His Grace understand that here in Brazil, I represent His Majesty the King.”


    “That may be so, but please tell the Governor that here I represent His Holiness the Pope. The Lord’s representative on Earth”, retorted the Bishop.


    In the unending days of a small hot town lost in the tropics, the controversy fell like honey in idle mouths. Spreading gossip around, the rumour-mongers delighted in destroying the possibility of any agreement between the potentates. Not long after, wherever Don Marcos was, Don Diogo would not appear, and vice versa. Two factions automatically formed and the mobilisation around the leaders was more in evidence every day. Soon the bigots were poking around in the Sacred Books in search of arguments proving the supremacy of the Church over the State. On the other side, supporters of the Governor invoked ancient stories that proved the exact opposite. People were arguing every day with increasing fervour. Some even came to blows. Fearful of jeopardising his authority, Don Diogo decided to discharge himself, referring the dispute to the High Court in Lisbon: the Desembargos do Paço.


    While waiting for the decision to come back, Don Marcos took the opportunity to advance a couple of steps. First, he requested and obtained from the Crown the restitution of the Prelatures of Pernambuco and Maranhão, which had been separated from the Diocese of Brazil some years before. Then he managed to be appointed Grand Inquisitor of the Holy Office to the entire colony. No, the Bishop was not the same Marcos Teixeira, visitor from the Inquisition, who had previously been in Bahia. Anyway, with his new position, his power grew. As a result, if the relationship between the highest secular authority and the highest ecclesiastical authority in Brazil was already contentious, with the appointment of Don Marcos as Judge of the Court of the Inquisition their enmity reached an all-time high. The powder keg finally exploded when the Bishop deported to Portugal two Portuguese, known to be married in the homeland, who had too recklessly flaunted the black women with whom they were cohabiting in Bahia. The Crown Prosecutor, supported by the Governor, categorically opposed the action. He claimed that the authority to repatriate people lay with the State, not the Church. Don Marcos seethed at the contempt shown for his authority, and responded by excommunicating the Crown Prosecutor.


    A real song and dance ensued. Excommunicated, the Crown Prosecutor could no longer go to confession, or receive communion or any other sacrament. He was virtually relegated to the status of pariah within the community. Angered at the injustice, Don Diogo turned rebelliously to Pero de Mendonça Furtado, of the State Council of India, his political patron in the Kingdom.


    Oh! No joy can compare to triumphant vanity. When the justices of the High Court reacted with surprise at the Bishop “having excommunicated the Crown Prosecutor for claiming the Crown’s legitimate right”, His Excellency the Governor celebrated in earnest.


    The victory placated his anger. It made him magnanimous. On better reflection, he thought it was time to restore the peace. After much thought on the best way to calm tempers, he decided to sweeten the holier-than-thou, releasing two thousand cruzados7 for the expansion of the church of the Benedictine monastery. And so that the Carmelites, Jesuits and Franciscans did not feel jealous, he also helped them. In any case, he was a man of arms and was fortifying the city, surrounding it with trenches and watchtowers. In the same vein, he decided to build a fort to protect the harbour.


    Dona Maria da Cunha insisted. As a devoted wife and fervent devotee of the Church, it was she who suffered most with the quarrel between her husband and the Bishop. Don Diogo agreed. In an attempt to make peace, he sent an invitation to the Bishop to bless the cornerstone of the new fort.


    “I won’t go,” Don Marcos responded sharply to the messenger. “And if I did, it would be rather to curse this Laje Fort.”


    “Curse? But why, Your Grace?”


    “Very simple, my boy. After this new brainchild of Don Diogo, I doubt there would be enough money to continue the work on the Cathedral.”


    “But, Your Grace…”


    “There is no point insisting. Tell him I will not go.”


    


    Three months after this latest clash, Don Diogo de Mendonça Furtado was reading yet again the recently-arrived letter from the mother country.


    “Now he’ll pay!” he thought to himself, slowly folding the letter and feeling a breath of joy. “On the eve of an attack, let’s see who’s really the boss around here!”


    It did not worry him then that there was no indication in the message that he would receive help from the Kingdom. The orders were to prepare for a possible attack on Brazil by the Dutch. There was no mention of when or where it might take place, or of the firepower of the enemy.


    
      
        1. Modern-day Malaysia.

      


      
        2. In 1621 the Spanish divided Brazil into two states with different governments, Brazil and Maranhão. The latter covered the captaincies of Grão-Para, Maranhão and Ceara, and was separate from the rest of Brazil for more than a hundred and fifty years.

      


      
        3. Wealthy men who were appointed to certain public positions in the municipality where they lived.

      


      
        4. The way the people of Bahia referred to New Christians, Jews who were forced to convert to Christianity.

      


      
        5. Honoré de Balzac, French novelist (1799-1850).

      


      
        6. The left side of the church.

      


      
        7. Cruzado: An old monetary unit of Portugal in the 17th and 18th centuries. It was a coin of gold or silver, bearing the figure of a cross (= cruz, in Portuguese). The cruzado was also the Brazilian currency from 1986 to 1989. – T.N.
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    Chapter 5


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    Don Diogo sent a messenger boy to summon his aides. He asked that Antonio de Mendonça, the son of his first marriage1 who was in the King’s service and had come with him to Brazil, also be located. The meeting would take place within two hours at the Council House. The little black boy ran up and down hill, along the beaches and to out-of-town cottages. Disturbing secret lovers, awakening people who were taking a nap, and interrupting dice and card games, the boy delivered his message.


    “It’ll be hell,” Captain Lorenzo de Brito exclaimed as soon as the Governor had finished his briefing.


    “It would be a good idea to send word to the captaincies,” Francisco Marrecos, the Crown Prosecutor, suggested.


    “I’ve already informed the Captain-General of Rio de Janeiro,” Don Diogo said. “The captain of the galleon who brought my mail from Court promised to stop by on his way to the Indies. I sent instructions to Martim de Sá and asked him to alert the southern captaincies.”


    “What about Pernambuco? Matias de Albuquerque should be warned.”


    “I know, Francisco,” the Governor agreed, rather peeved at being reminded. “Perhaps we need to send a mounted courier to Olinda. Waiting for a passing ship heading that way may take forever.”


    “Do we know where they’ll attack?”


    “I’m afraid not, Lorenzo. But if it were you on the Dutch side, where would you strike?”


    “I don’t know, Governor… Where I’d meet less resistance, I guess.”


    “And what would you gain from that?” Stroking his beard with a superior air, he added, “If it were me, I’d want to humiliate my enemies, so I’d attack the provincial capital straight away.”


    “So you believe they’ll attack here in Bahia?”


    “I do. And we’d do well to prepare for it.”


    “These wretched Protestants are the plague of humankind,” Father Jeronimo Peixoto, a Jesuit preacher, called out from the back of the room; having noticed the unusual commotion in the Council House, he had decided to sneak in to see what was going on.


    “Ah, Reverend, there you are,” the Governor said ironically.


    Everyone turned their heads. Holding his hat and jabbing a finger, the old priest, who was generally thought to be a bit weak in the head, tottered unsteadily forward and adopted his most messianic manner.


    “In 1555, the French Huguenots2 invaded Rio de Janeiro. It took a lot of blood-shedding to drive them out again. In 1598, the Dutch Calvinists attacked Santos. And the following year, Rio de Janeiro and Bahia. I was already in Bahia…” the priest poked his chest with his finger, “I saw the havoc those devils wreaked!”


    His audience smiled discreetly but was listening, heads turned back.


    “And the French haven’t come back to Maranhão for a dozen years. They didn’t even stay there for three years. Why don’t these wretched heretics stay where they come from and leave us alone?” the Jesuit burst out, sweeping the air with an exasperated arm and storming out of the room.


    Don Diogo bit his lips to refrain from laughing and raised his eyebrows.


    “Where were we…?”


    Secretly sneering at the priest, everyone turned their attention back to the Governor.


    “Ah, yes… you need to get on with those works at the Laje Fort3, Vasco,” Don Diogo went on. “And you, Lorenzo, conscript more men. How many regulars do we have?”


    “Some three hundred and fifty, Governor.”


    “Well… that’s not enough. You need to recruit in Reconcavo4. And in Casa da Torre as well.”


    “Casa da Torre is useless,” Captain Lorenzo objected, slightly raising his voice. “You know perfectly well that that midget is a good-for-nothing.”


    “Don’t talk like that about Mr Dias d’Avila,” Don Diogo admonished mildly. “You know better than I do that since the time of his grandfather, Casa da Torre forewarns Salvador of any ship approaching.”


    “That’s why! The midget thinks he’s going beyond the call of duty. He’s a baptised horse! Don’t ask me to go and ask him any favours.”


    “All right, Lorenzo, all right,” Don Diogo agreed, with a malicious smile. “Stick to Reconcavo then.”


    “As you wish, Governor. Though you should know… even without counting the niggers, there are people there who are destitute, poor souls. They have no wherewithal to remain in the city.”


    “We’ll do something about that,” the Governor said, thinking quickly. “Tell those who don’t have the means to stay here that we’ll pay three vintens a day.”


    “Three vintens?”


    “Three vintens. Sixty reis a day. That’s all right, isn’t it? It’s enough to eat on?”


    “Well… I guess, Governor. What about the niggers?”


    “The niggers too. How many men do you think you’ll get?”


    “It’s hard to say,” Captain Lorenzo said non-committally, scratching his head. “Between settlers and slaves, a thousand, maybe more.”


    “That’s what I thought. And don’t forget Afonso Rodrigues5 from Cachoeira. Afonso gets on well with some Indians who are damn good archers.”


    “What about the Bishop?” Antonio de Mendonça, the Governor’s son, cut in, his eager seventeen years getting the better of him.


    “What about him, Sergeant?”


    “You’re not going to warn him?”


    “Of course I am. But he probably knows by now. Father Jeronimo must have gone straight from here to the Bishop’s residence.”


    


    Indeed, at that very moment Don Marcos was digesting the news. The imminence of a war would make people feel insecure. Fearing a foreign invasion, they might well take sides with the Governor. On second thoughts… well, it made sense. Could well be. Maybe this was a false alarm. Some ruse from this man Diogo to try and undermine his prestige.


    “Are you absolutely sure, Father Jeronimo?” he asked slowly, with that smooth tone of voice that inspired awe in so many people.


    “Absolutely sure, Your Grace.”


    “Have you told anyone else?”


    “No-one. I came to you first.”


    “You did well,” the Bishop praised. “But for the time being I forbid you from talking about this with anyone. Under your vows of obedience, only with your Provincial at the convent.”


    “But… Father Domingos isn’t even in Bahia.”


    “So much the better. You can’t talk to anyone,” he said flatly, giving the old preacher a friendly tap on the shoulder. “You did well coming to me first, Father Jeronimo. Though you caught me unawares. I need to think what to do.”


    
      
        1. Diogo de Mendonça Furtado married twice. The first time to D. Mecia Manoel, by whom he had Antonio de Mendonça; and the second time to D. Maria da Cunha in 1610. He had a daughter from this marriage, Joana de Mendonça.

      


      
        2. Derogatory term given by the Catholics to French Protestants.

      


      
        3. Later named the Fort of São Marcelo. The fortress was initially a triangular stronghold, built on a reef at the mouth of the Salvador harbour. It was only later that it was given its circular shape that survives to this day.

      


      
        4. The Reconcavo baiano is an exceptionally fertile region surrounding All Saints’ Bay.

      


      
        5. Owner of a small sugar mill in Cachoeira.
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    Chapter 6


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    Futile concern, that of the Bishop. A few hours later, the imminence of war was already the talk of the town in Salvador. Some, more provident, started to buy extra supplies of dried meat and flour. Others had holes dug in their backyards to bury jewellery, candelabra, silverware and anything else of value. Merchants hid their stocks. The pious fingered their rosary beads anxiously, organised novenas and made vows to a variety of saints. Churches and private shrines were crowded with people mumbling prayers and Hail Marys.


    


    “I want you to pack your things and take yourself and the children to your uncle’s house inland,” a worried father ordered his wife.


    “Inland? To the bush? What about you? I’m not going without you.”


    “Do you think I can leave the city now, darling? People will say I got cold feet. Ran away. That I’m a coward.”


    “So what? Isn’t that better than to be put to the sword? Or are you going to tell me you’re not scared?”


    “Scared? Me? For God’s sake, woman, I’m not one to be scared. I’m a little anxious, that’s all. For you and the children.”


    


    In Reconcavo, the fertile lands surrounding All Saints’ Bay, Captain Lorenzo de Brito was having trouble conscripting troops. Having little to put on their bodies and nothing on their feet, and afraid of starving to death in the city, the blacks seemed to prefer the discomfort of the labour lines, something they were acquainted with. Their masters, the owners of the sugar mills, could of course force them to enlist. All they had to do was say so. But would it not be reckless to put weapons in the hands of black slaves and make them follow half a dozen whites through the bush? It was one thing to keep thirty or forty slaves under control working in the cane plantations and the mills or tending cattle. It was something else entirely to hand them harquebuses, spears and crossbows and urge them into battle.


    After several unsuccessful attempts, Captain Lorenzo had a bright idea. He took off his clothes and boots and, in his shabby long johns, barefoot, naked from the waist up, started to address the crowds in the farmyards.


    “You’re no longer the sons of Africa, men. You were born here. You’re Brazilian. Sons of Brazil. As Brazilian as I am! You believe in God, in the salvation of the soul and in the Virgin Mary. Isn’t that so?”


    The blacks nodded their heads warily.


    “Well, not the Dutch, no! They have red hair like the Devil’s, they hate the saints, and they say the Virgin Mary was deflowered.” And, after a brief pause to allow his audience to absorb the surprising revelation, he added, “Think, men, think of what those who have the gall to say the Virgin Mary was defiled by St. Joseph are capable of.”


    His listeners were indignant, and the Captain went on in a beseeching tone.


    “For the love of our Lord Jesus Christ, are you going to let these heretics take over our land? Are you going to let the Antichrist plunder our churches, shatter our saints, kill the priests, fornicate with our women and capture Brazil?”


    His strategy worked. The Barefoot Company was gradually taking shape. Now, the slaves were following Captain Lorenzo’s lieutenants with as much pride and sense of personal dignity as those who, in other companies, were soldiering with their shoes on and in their Sunday best.


    


    Salvador was in uproar. With the arrival of the extra population, the number of men in the city almost doubled. Faced with this situation, the Governor ordered that every city dweller, starting with himself, was obliged to put up one or more outsiders in their home. The best houses filled quickly and their porches became a tangle of humanity, bundles and hammocks.


    The mucamas, the young, worldly black girls who were in service and kept young ladies company, rejoiced under this tide of lusting eyes. Matrons did their best to keep control but were powerless to prevent the lasses from exchanging naughty looks with the lads from Reconcavo. Sensuousness was in the air. A sense of urgency. If war broke tomorrow, it might be too late. A wink and a nudge here, a whisper there, as night wore on and the moon hid behind the clouds, young black girls sneaked out, reckless young ladies slipped through the windows and quick lovemaking was enjoyed in gardens and orchards and even in the shadows of convent walls.


    


    Don Diogo seemed to be ubiquitous. He was everywhere. In the early morning, he would go out by boat to inspect the works at the Laje Fort and the overhaul of the fortresses of Santo Antonio da Barra,1 Santo Alberto2 and Monte Serrat3 that he had ordered. Afterwards, he would check the trenches and the gunpowder supplies. Later, he would travel to the countryside to watch the militia being trained, or to the armoury to count and recount the weapons. The Governor would not rest. The paymaster of rents was on edge: the meal allowances alone for the Reconcavo conscripts were costing almost fifty thousand reis per day. The bill was nearing three thousand cruzados! One and a half times what the government had pledged towards the extension works for the church of the São Bento Monastery.


    “And what would you have me do?” the Governor asked angrily, on hearing his aide’s complaints. “Shall I leave the people to starve?”


    


    The defence plan had been carefully designed and the militia commanders seemed to know exactly what they were doing. However, nearly a month had gone by and the only news was the sighting of one Dutch ship off the coast of the captaincy of Ilheus. Just one ship! Of the powerful armada reported by Madrid, nothing!


    The worries faded away. The initial impetus started to lose momentum. Word was going around that the whole thing might have been false alarm. On the following Sunday, during Mass, the Bishop delivered an inspired sermon. Using fanciful figures of speech, he suggested that the people lay down their arms and get busy building the Cathedral. If all the hustle and bustle was focused on something really useful, the Cathedral would be completed in no time. Furthermore, the good Lord would certainly not permit São Salvador, the seat of the diocese of Brazil, so solemnly inaugurated on All Saints’ Day, to suffer a new attack from the “apostates and heretics”.


    The Governor had no alternative but to criticise the Bishop publicly.


    At mass the next day, Don Marcos was even more vehement.


    “Lots of money is being spent on the preparations for a war that, the good Lord willing, will never happen. Lots of money! Huge fortunes! God knows what is behind so much spending,” the Bishop harangued from the pulpit, hurling barbs of suspicion about. “And there’s more, my dear brethren. As everyone knows, the confessional is a tomb. Secrets confessed there are inviolate. But the fact is that our priests are appalled. Appalled, brethren! They are so worried that, as the saying goes, they have told me the miracle without revealing the saint. And I confess to you. Yes, I need to confess. Virtues are dying in Bahia. The Devil is on the loose. The nefarious sin of the flesh is spreading. The City of São Salvador is becoming Babylon! Sodom and Gomorrah! Debauchery!”


    Many in the congregation made the sign of the cross, as appalled as the priests; and, after a brief pause to wipe his brow with his cambric handkerchief, the Bishop thundered on.


    “To be unchaste, as you know, is not just to fornicate,” he avowed, casting one of his fierce looks over the congregation. “Fornication is simply the most nefarious sin of the flesh, brethren! But there are others. Many others. To kiss and fondle and God knows what else is also sinful.”


    Feeling victim to Satan, whose snares were being revealed by the thundering voice of the preacher, the sinners were hiding their blushing faces behind their veils. With a heavy conscience, they were imploring the Holy Virgin to give them the strength to never again yield to the temptations of the flesh, even though, from another recess in their souls, some impish creature was making them pray to the Heavens that those war preparations would never come to an end.


    In this, Don Diogo was the girls’ ally. He would not miss an opportunity to say to whoever questioned him:


    “Don’t leave us alone. We cannot disband. Without the help from Reconcavo, we’ll lose the capital. With the capital lost, we’ll lose Bahia. With Bahia lost, we’ll lose the Lands of Brazil.”


    The Governor’s arguments were vindicated by the indiscretion of a young novice to his father.


    The boy’s name was Antonio Vieira and it had been a year since he had run away from his parents’ home to join the Society of Jesus. Persuaded by Father Cardim, the seminary’s principal, to allow the young man’s priestly calling to flourish, the repentant father had finally decided to visit the fugitive. The meeting was awkward and disconcerting but filled the humble clerk with a feeling of whimpering pride, half-disguised in sorrow. And it was he, the court’s clerk, who spread the news. His son had told him in secret that two Jesuits who were praying in the choir of the church had seen Our Lord Jesus Christ brandishing a sword against Salvador, as if threatening the city.


    What could these visions mean? And he came to the conclusion that it could only be a premonition of a great tragedy.


    
      
        1. Located at the southern mouth of All Saints’ Bay, extended and renovated over the years, it is famous today as the Barra Lighthouse.

      


      
        2. Better known as the Fort of Lagartixa, it can still be seen in Agua de Meninos, Salvador.

      


      
        3. This fortress protected the northern entry to All Saints’ Bay and remains in a good state of repair.
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    Chapter 7


    



    



    



    


    


    


    


    It was late in the afternoon. From the top of a limestone tower built on a hill above the cove of Tatuapara, a sentry saw something coming behind the misty line of the horizon. Shading his eyes with his hand, he squinted and focused on the view. Little by little, a set of full sails was gradually appearing. Minutes later some more sails pierced the mist. Shortly afterwards there were some more — and then yet more. Now, as many ships as there are fingers and toes, plus another whole hand and two more fingers, came into view.


    


    The West India Company had managed to gather twenty-eight owned and leased ships and to equip them with three hundred culverins1 and two hundred cannon. Seventeen hundred soldiers and fourteen hundred sailors had been recruited. The WIC’s first major expedition, which had aroused much speculation, finally left the Netherlands around New Year, 1624. To outwit the galleons of the Spanish naval blockade, they had slipped out amid the fogs of winter, gradually and from different ports. Their initial stop was St. Vincent, one of the uninhabited islands in the Cape Verde archipelago off the coast of Africa. About the final destination of the powerful armada there were only rumours. As a precaution, the Board of Nineteen had decided that only the Fleet Commander, Johan van Dorth, Admiral Jacob Willekens and Vice-Admiral Piet Heyn would be informed of the objective.


    On 28th January, Admiral Willekens’ frigate anchored in Cape Verde. The other ships arrived a few at a time over the following days. Now, only the Hollandia remained to make an appearance, with the Commander of the expedition aboard.


    


    “By Satan’s horns!” cursed Jacob Willekens, sitting under a tree, irritated by the persistent onslaught of mosquitoes. “Where the hell has this damned Van Dorth got to?”


    “Now then, Jacob, the man is the Lord of Horst, and is more accustomed to farming than ships,” the Vice-Admiral quipped. “He must have got lost on the high seas.”


    “I know,” agreed the grumpy Admiral. “But it’s him that we’ll be giving the land to when we’ve conquered it. Van Dorth will be Governor. As for us, we’ll just end up doing all the donkey work and going home again.”


    “You’re a fine example of your kind, eh, Jacob!” Piet joked, his beady eyes frowning in his goatee-adorned, seal-like face, giving his boss a friendly slap on the back: “Don’t be so mean, man. For all the devils! The booty will be good.”


    The two of them were long-time friends. When Piet was nine, it was Jacob, fifteen at the time, who had taught him the art of piracy, sabotaging the Spanish bases in Dunkirk, in the Southern Low Countries2. In those days they had done everything, from holing hulls below the waterline to filching weapons and setting off gunpowder magazines. Later, they were reunited in the VOC, the East India Company. The difference was that there they were no longer simple saboteurs. They were real pirates who needed to find a way to escape the Spanish and the Portuguese, and to fend off other pirates in order to bring to Amsterdam the silks, corals, spun gold, porcelain and spices from the Far-off Lands. They had shared many dangerous situations, victories, shipwrecks and even two years in captivity together. They got on very well. So much so that when Jacob Willekens was invited to command the ships on the first great expedition of the WIC, the Netherlands’ new overseas trading company, he succeeded in having Piet Heyn hired as his Chief Officer.


    “Mean, is it? He should be careful. We’ve been here for over a month, being eaten by mosquitoes on this shitty island. By the horns of the devil! I will not wait two months. We’ll raise anchor with the crescent moon of March.”


    “You’re getting old… Patience, man!”


    “Old is your mother! I have no more patience to endure the idiocy of these nobles! We’ll be off with the next moon.”


    “Without Van Dorth?”


    “Oprotten3! If I regret anything, it’s losing those twenty-eight cannon and three hundred men on board the Hollandia. As for Van Dorth, to hell with him! He’s no loss to me.”


    No sooner said than done. Once the eighteen large landing barges, which they had brought dismantled to foil the Spanish spies, had been reassembled, and since the Hollandia had not appeared by the twenty-sixth, they put to sea with the crescent moon of March.


    


    The crossing was swift. It lasted forty-two days. But the crew was only informed of the final destination on the twenty-eighth day. The announcement, though, was of no great importance to them. Wherever they had to go, the men were only interested in the promise of three days of looting and their share of the booty.
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